IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-KA-01090-SCT

JOHN T. GORE

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS George T. Holmes, MSB No 301 N. Lamar St., Ste 210 Jackson MS 39201 601 576-4200

Counsel for Appellant

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-KA-01090-SCT

JOHN T. GORE

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING THE STATE TO INTRODUCE EVIDENCE OF PRIOR ALLEGED MISCONDUCT AS AN EXCEPTION TO M. R. E. 404(B)?:
- ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY EXCLUDING DEFENSE EVIDENCE UNDER M. R. E. 608(B)?
- ISSUE NO. 3: WHETHER THE WARRANTLESS SEIZURE OF EVIDENCE FROM THE DEFENDANT'S HOME WAS ILLEGAL?
- ISSUE NO. 4: WHETHER THE VERDICT IS CONTRARY TO THE WEIGHT OF EVIDENCE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Rankin County, Mississippi where John T. Gore was convicted of gratification of lust under MCA § 97-5-23 (1) (1972) in a jury trial conducted April 28, 2009, with Honorable William E. Chapman, III, Circuit Judge, presiding. Gore was sentenced to fifteen (15) years incarceration, with two (2) years suspended, and is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

FACTS

In 2007, John T. Gore, a former law enforcement officer, was living in Rankin County on Haynes Chapel Road near Pelahatchie. [T. 90-91, 116, 166-67]. Gore's son Daniel Gore lived down the road about a quarter of a mile with his girlfriend, Lindsey Bohn. *Id.* Daniel and Lindsey have a daughter, M.G. born August 3, 2005. [T. 90]. Gore shared meals with Daniel and Lindsey, and often kept M. G. for the young couple. [T. 91, 104-05].

On May 11, 2007, Lindsey went to the Pepsi Pops event put on by the Mississippi Symphony Orchestra at the Ross Barnett Reservoir, where Daniel's employer was contracted to work. [91-92]. She left M. G. with Gore between 10:30 a. m. and noon. *Id.*

When Lindsey arrived to retrieve M. G. later that evening around 10:30 p.m., she let herself into Gore's house, as was their custom. [T. 93]. Lindsey said she looked into Gore's bedroom and saw M. G. "laying on the bed next to Gore, and [M. G. was] completely naked, no diaper, no nothing." *Id.* Lindsey testified that Gore said, "she found my vibrator" followed by, "she put it on herself." *Id.* Lindsay testified Gore said they had just taken a bath and were lying down. *Id.* The "vibrator" referred to was described as a back massager rather than a sexual device. [T. 110].

Lindsey said she left with the baby and returned home. [T. 94]. When Lindsey was getting M. G. ready for bed, she said she saw the baby's anus and "it was the size of a nickel." *Id.* Daniel Gore was still working at the Pepsi Pops event, but their friend Matt,

who was staying with Daniel and Lindsey was there. *Id.* [T. 91, 104]. Lindsey said she grabbed a shotgun, but could not find any shells, so she grabbed a knife, and drove back to Gore's. *Id.* When Lindsey arrived at Gore's she tried to stab Gore with the knife. [T. 95, 263]. Lindsey eventually called law enforcement and drove back home. [T. 95-96]. When a sheriff's deputy and juvenile officer arrived at her house, Lindsey was instructed to take M. G. to a hospital, which Lindsey did, arriving at St. Dominic Hospital in Jackson about midnight. [T. 96, 156-57]. Lindsey said M. G. had not had any previous injuries to her anus nor bowel problems which would have caused her anus to be enlarged. [T. 97]. On of the responding deputies said the child's rectum looked red. [T. 115].

The responding officers went next to Gore's house, read the *Miranda* warnings to him, and they discussed the situation.¹ [T. 116-17, 157-59]. The deputies said Gore appeared to be intoxicated. *Id*. The deputies said that Gore explained that he fell asleep and awoke to find M. G. playing with the vibrator which Gore said he kept under his bed. [T. 117-18, 160, 169]. Gore explained that M. G. was naked because she soiled her clothes. *Id*.

When asked where the vibrator was, Gore allegedly told the officers it was under the bed in a box. [T. 118, 135-37, 139-40]. One of the officers then looked under the bed, retrieved a box, opened it and removed the vibrator. *Id.* The vibrator was admitted into

¹ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U. S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 6 L. Ed. 2nd 694 (1966).

evidence as Exhibit 1, over objection. [T. 138]. Gore was not under arrest when the vibrator was seized. [T. 135-37, 161].

The examining emergency room physician described M. G.'s rectum to be "a bit dilated or enlarged" without tears and no bleeding. [T. 148]. The doctor did not note any redness nor bruising and was of the opinion that the child was not "penetrated by any particular object" but he suspected abuse nonetheless. [T. 149-153].

Besides offering testimony about the alleged incidents on the date in question, the state introduced testimony in its case-in-chief, from Daniel Gore, that when he was around 13 years old, Gore informed Daniel about being a naturalist or nudist. [T. 180-92, 201-03]. Daniel said Gore wanted him and his sister Katie to participate and be naked too. *Id.* However, there was no alleged misconduct or sexual activity. [T. 210-11, 220-21, 229, 243].

Gore's twenty-one year old daughter Katie Jenkins testified at trial that, nine years earlier, when she was twelve, Gore "touched [her], and he made [her] sit in his lap while he was naked and [she] was naked, and look at pictures on the computer of naked children." [T. 217-18, 222]. Katie also said Gore fondled her while she was in bed with Gore and his girlfriend. [T. 218].

Gore, testifying in his own defense, said Lindsey and the friend Matt had come by on the day in question and asked Gore, who was working, to keep the baby. [T. 257-62, 273-75, 278-81]. Gore denied ever misappropriately touching M. G. and generally denied

the occurrences of the charged offense and the prior allegations of misconduct involving Katie. *Id.*

Gore testified Lindsey had only brought over a few diapers which all became wet because M. G. was swimming, the child was constipated which possibly have caused her anus to be enlarged. [T. 260]. That night after putting M. G. to bed, while he was washing some clothes, Gore said he heard M. G. making noise, he went back to the bedroom and found M. G. playing with the vibrator on the floor, but not in a sexual way. *Id.*

Gore denied being drunk and said he never drank when he kept the baby. [T 261]. Gore said that after Lindsey came over and tried to stab him, he took a prescription tranquilizer and drank some brandy. [T. 263]. Gore said he talked to police under the influence of the sedative he took and brandy, but basically told them the same as his testimony. [T. 266, 284].

Later in the morning of May 12, 2007 before dawn, Gore said Daniel and Matt came to his house, tore things up, beat him up, threatened to kill Gore, pointed a pistol at him, and left him handcuffed which he was later able to remove. [T. 264]. The police came subsequently and arrested Gore with a warrant. [T. 161-62, 266].

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in allowing proof of uncharged irrelevant allegations of prior misconduct. The trial court erred by not allowing the defendant to introduce evidence to dispute allegations of prior misconduct. The so-called vibrator was illegally seized and improperly admitted into evidence. The weight of evidence did not support the verdict.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING THE STATE TO INTRODUCE EVIDENCE OF PRIOR ALLEGED MISCONDUCT AS AN EXCEPTION TO M. R. E. 404(B)?

Gore's position under this issue is that the nudist colony evidence and evidence about the allegations involving Katie were remote, irrelevant and more prejudicial than probative. As will be shown, the trial court misapplied *Derouen v. State*, 994 So. 2d 748 (Miss. 2008).

In *Derouen* the defendant was charged with fondling his step-niece on one occasion. 994 So. 2d 750. The trial court allowed testimony that there had been one prior episode with the same child. The Supreme Court approved of the prior incident evidence and took the opportunity to expand the exception to M. R. E. 404(b) for such evidence in child sexual assault cases overruling *Mitchell v. State*, 539 So. 2d 1366 (Miss.1989) in the process.

The *Derouen* opinion specifically provides that admission of allegations of sexual misconduct against the same child, and other children, is not *per se* reversible error, if such evidence is otherwise relevant under M. R. E. 403 and 404(b) to prove "motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident" and is not more prejudicial than probative.² Even with the expanded exception, prior incident evidence, nevertheless, still cannot be offered as proof of probability that a defendant committed the new offense on the implication that he is a bad person with a propensity for this type of conduct or a person of criminal character. Even if relevant, prior bad act evidence must yet be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the dangers of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, misleading of the jury, or by considerations of undue delay or waste of time. M. R. E. 401 and, 403. So, *Derouen* is not absolute authority for introduction of every incident or accusation of sexual misconduct against a defendant.

In *Derouen*, the prior acts evidence involved the same child and were fairly recent and involved the same kind of alleged bad conduct. Here in Gore's case, the prior bad acts allegations included fondling of another child, Katie, which was very remote in time.

Rule 404. Character Evidence Not Admissible to Prove Conduct; Exceptions; Other Crimes (b) Other Crimes, Wrongs, or Acts. Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show that he acted in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.

Moreover, the allegations about the nudist colony were also very remote in time and, more importantly, did not involve any claim of sexual misconduct. The *Derouen* decision would require the exclusion of such evidence as more prejudicial than probative.

The nudist camp evidence, besides being also remote, did not involve proof of lack of accident or mistake, intent, or motive for the allegations involving M. G. The nudist camp evidence was simply presented to the jury with the overt suggestion that Gore was a bad person because he allegedly forced his children to participate in nudist activities when they might not have wanted to.

The *Derouen* court relied on the Florida case of *Shapiro v. State*, 696 So. 2d 1321 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1997). However, a subsequent decision out of Florida shows the limitation of the evidentiary exception adopted in *Derouen*.

In *Foburg v. State*, 744 So. 2d 1175, 1178, (Fla. App. 2 Dist. 1999), the defendant was convicted of, among other crimes, fondling a child under the age of sixteen. The prosecution offered evidence of prior acts involving several children over a period of time some 17 to 20 years in duration. The *Foburg* court reversed citing their rule that, "[t]he charged and collateral offenses must be not only strikingly similar, but they must also share some unique characteristic or combination of characteristics which sets them apart from other offenses," and, must also tend "to prove a material fact issue that is in dispute." [Citations omitted.]. *Id*.

The Florida Appellate Court in Foburg refused to extend Shapiro, supra, to allow

introduction of bad character evidence consisting of dissimilar patterns of alleged abuse and manipulation of minors over a long period of time, "because there are no other striking similarities shared by the charged offenses," pointing out that "the absence of similar conduct for an extensive period of time might suggest that the conduct is no longer characteristic of the defendant." [Citations omitted]. 744 So. 2d 1178. In reversing the conviction, the *Foburg* court found the bad character evidence "was not uniquely factually characteristic of the charged offenses, and therefore, it was not probative of those offenses," and that "[t]he only purpose served by the State's introduction of the [prior incident] evidence was to imply that because Foburg had committed similar acts seventeen to twenty years ago, he must have committed the acts with which he was now charged. *Id.* Propensity is an improper basis for the admission of [the] evidence." *Id.*

If the Florida court's rationale was a basis for the adoption of the extended exception in *Derouen*, such logic should also serve to establish the temporal and relevancy parameters of the expanded exception. Applying *Foburg* to the facts of the present case leads to the fair conclusion that the remote and unrelated bad character evidence here was both irrelevant and distinctly more prejudicial than probative under M. R. E. 403.

Gratification of lust is a specific intent crime. *Hailey v. State*, 537 So. 2d 411, 416 (Miss.1988), and *Branch v. State*, 998 So. 2d 411, 418 (Miss.2008), fn. 5. The intent

being that the perpetrator intends to satisfy his licentious desires by rubbing or touching, in this case, a minor. *Id.* The participation in nudist culture established neither a motive or intent to any of the elements of gratification of lust whether the conduct is considered deviant from the norm or not.

This case should be reversed for allowing introduction of irrelevant allegations of past misconduct under 404(b). *Darby v. State*, 538 So. 2d 1168 (Miss. 1989), *Tobias v. State*, 472 So. 2d 398 (Miss. 1985).

ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY EXCLUDING DEFENSE EVIDENCE UNDER M. R. E. 608(B)?

In response to the allegations of prior sexual misconduct, the defendant called Linda Stanley, who was Gore's girlfriend at the time, to testify. [T. 237- 51]. The trial court here excluded Ms. Stanley's testimony under M. R. E. 608(b).³

Ms. Stanley's proferred testimony was that when Katie was 12, which would have been around 2000, Katie would come in the bedroom where Gore and Linda were asleep with clothes on and get in the bed with them often and that everyone remained clothed.

M. R. E. Rule 608. Evidence of Character and Conduct of Witness.

⁽b) Specific Instances of Conduct. Specific instances of the conduct of a witness, for the purpose of attacking or supporting the witness's character for truthfulness, other than conviction of crime as provided in Rule 609, may not be proved by extrinsic evidence. They may, however, in the discretion of the court, if probative of truthfulness or untruthfulness, be inquired into on cross-examination of the witness (1) concerning the witness's character for truthfulness or untruthfulness, or (2) concerning the character for truthfulness or untruthfulness of another witness as to which character the witness being cross-examined has testified

[T. 241-248]. Linda said she observed no sexual misconduct concerning Katie, and Gore loved Katie very much. *Id.* Linda also testified that Gore never asked the children to take their clothes off. *Id.* In general, Linda said that Gore was never known to act inappropriately around children. *Id.*

As stated in the prior issue, the trial court here ruled under *Derouen, supra,* that the prior allegation of sexual misconduct against Gore with his daughter and that allegations that he insisted his daughter and son attend a nudist colony were both relevant. That being so, the trial court, and this court, cannot now say that inquiry into the prior bad acts was relevant for the state's case in chief, but not relevant for the defense's case in chief. To do so is a patent denial of due process under the 6th and 14th Amendments to the U. S. Constitution and Article 3 §26 of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890.

Rule 608(b) was misapplied here by the learned trial court in an abuse of discretion. Primarily, as is apparent, Rule 608 is a rule to exclude proof of the character of a witness by way of extrinsic specific instances of conduct. So says the comments to the rule, "Rule 608 is concerned with character evidence of witnesses ... [s]ubsection (b) flatly prohibits impeaching a *witness's character for truthfulness* via extrinsic proof of specific acts of the witness's conduct, except criminal convictions pursuant to Rule 609." [Emphasis added.].

The excluded testimony from Linda Stanley did not pertain to Katie's character for truthfulness. It pertained to Gore's conduct, and specifically whether certain alleged

events occurred or did not occur.

The case of *Pinkney v. State*, 538 So. 2d 329, 348 (Miss. 1988), supports the introduction of Linda Stanley's testimony in this case. *Pinkney* was a capital murder case where the defendant claimed "that a deputy extracted a confession" by holding a gun to Pinkney's head. The state presented the testimony "of another officer that he had never seen the deputy carry a gun." Pinkney argued that this rebuttal testimony should have been excluded as extrinsic. The *Pinkney* court held that this testimony was properly admitted because it concerned a statement of fact not reputation or character evidence.

In *Lewis v. State*, 580 So. 2d 1279, 1287 (Miss. 1991), the defendant was convicted of aggravated assault, one issue was whether the court erred in allowing the state to call a rebuttal witness to prove specific instances of Lewis' conduct by extrinsic evidence to attack his credibility. Lewis had testified that the victim had a knife and a gun and attacked him first, and that the victim's injuries were the result of his defending himself. Specifically Lewis denied having a gun on the night of the incident and also denied having a weapon several days prior. The State called the victim's aunt in rebuttal, who testified that three days prior to the incident, Lewis had came to her house looking for the victim. The aunt testified that Lewis showed her a gun in his pocket.

On appeal, Lewis argued unsuccessfully that the aunt's testimony was substantive evidence of other crimes rather than as impeachment of his credibility. *Id.* The *Lewis* court found that the aunt's testimony "was not introduced as a specific instance of conduct to impeach Lewis' credibility, and thus, 608(b) is not applicable. Nor was impeachment, in this instance, on a collateral issue. Who had a gun and who was the aggressor was central factual issue." *Id.* at 1287-88. The aunt's testimony in *Lewis* "was not reputation or character evidence but a statement of fact relevant to the merits. Consequently, the testimony was admissible." *Id.*

A fair reading and application of *Pinkney* and *Lewis* to the facts of the present leads to the conclusion that Linda Stanley's testimony should have been admitted. Moreover, under the same authority, it follows that, since the trial court's ruling here that the evidence about the prior acts was relevant, evidence about the incidents, including Linda Stanley's factual testimony, was not extrinsic and thus admissible under 608(b).

Additionally, the misapplication of rule 608 here resulted in the defendant not being allowed to answer the charges against him as would be his fundamental right. The trial court should have exercised its discretion in favor of allowing the defendant to present evidence instead of allowing the state to hide behind the rule.

In *Pettit v. State*, 569 So. 2d 678, 681 (Miss. 1990), a sale of narcotics case, the trial court excluded defense testimony about an undercover agent who denied using drugs with the defendant a topic which was covered in cross-examination. *Id.* Pettit sought to call a surrebuttal witness to testify that he had seen the agent participate in drug use on a specific date. The State objected under 608(b) arguing that such impeachment "should not be allowed on a collateral matter" and the trial court sustained the state's objection. The

Pettit court ruled that the exclusion was error, though harmless and not reversible. Id.

In Miskelley v. State, 480 So. 2d 1104, 1109 (Miss. 1985), the defendant allegedly confessed to his girlfriend about a murder, and the girlfriend testified to this at trial. The State's theory was that Miskelly resented the fact that the girlfriend who testified broke up with Miskelly and was going to start dating the victim again. Miskelly's position, which made impeachment evidence relevant, was that the girlfriend's testimony about Miskelly's alleged confession "was a result of coaxing, over-persuasion and threats to deny appellant sexual favors, and that there was no truth" to her account. Id. at 1109. Miskelly wanted to cross-examine the girlfriend about whether the confession was coaxed but the trial court excluded the evidence on the conclusion that it was extrinsic character evidence of a witness. The Miskelly court, acknowledging "the principle and rule that a witness may not be impeached upon a collateral matter" ruled, nevertheless, that exclusion of the impeachment evidence on the grounds that it concerned extrinsic, and otherwise irrelevant, allegations of misconduct, denied Miskelly his right to confront state witnesses under the 6th Amendment and reversed based on an abuse of the discretion of the trial court. *Id.* at 1111-12. The same result is called for here.

There is no difference between the points at issue here in Gore's case and those in *Pettit* and *Miskelly, supra*. Both require reversal even assuming *arguendo* that Rule 608(b) did apply. See also *Darby v. State*, 538 So. 2d 1168, 1174 (Miss. 1989), and *Harley v. State*, 345 So. 2d 1048, 1050 (Miss. 1977) for the proposition that the

Compulsory Process clause of the 6th Amendment prohibits exclusion of relevant defense theory evidence through the 14th Amendment.

ISSUE NO. 3: WHETHER THE WARRANTLESS SEIZURE OF EVIDENCE FROM THE DEFENDANT'S HOME WAS ILLEGAL?

The sheriff's deputies did not initially arrest Gore when they interviewed him May 11, 2007, Gore was simply questioned and he told the officers about finding the child with the vibrator or massager. [T. 118, 130-37, 139-40, 160-61]. In their discussions, Gore was asked about the location of vibrator and Gore told them it was under the bed in a box. *Id.* Once again, Gore was not under arrest at this time. *Id.*

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