#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JOHN T. GORE

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2009-KA-1090-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

## BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

## APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LA DONNA C. HOLLAND

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court properly admitted evidence of Gore's sexual misconduct with Katie. The evidence was admitted to show motive, intent, preparation, plan, and lack of mistake or accident, not to show conformity therewith. The trial court performed a balancing test and determined that the evidence was not overly prejudicial. Also, the jury was given a proper limiting instruction.

Gore's girlfriend's testimony was properly excluded, as defense counsel sought to use the testimony merely to impeach Katie on a collateral matter. Case law makes clear that a witness cannot be impeached on a collateral matter.

Gore was not subjected to an unreasonable search and seizure. Rather, after being read his Miranda rights, Gore voluntarily spoke with officers and led them to evidence of the crime.

The jury's verdict is supported by substantial credible evidence and is not against the weight of the evidence. The State proved each element of the crime of fondling. The jury fulfilled its duty in weighing the credibility of several State's witnesses against Gore's denial, far-fetched assertions, and differing versions of events.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. EVIDENCE OF GORE'S SEXUAL ASSAULT OF ANOTHER CHILD WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED UNDER M.R.E. 404(B).

Gore claims that the trial court misapplied *Derouen v. State*, 994 So. 2d 748 (Miss. 2008) in ruling that evidence of Gore's sexual abuse of his daughter Katie and evidence that Gore forced his children to participate in nudist activities was admissible under M.R.E. 404(b). Gore correctly notes that even with the expanded exception announced in *Derouen*, evidence of the defendant's sexual misconduct with child victims other than the one for which he is being tried still cannot be offered to show conformity therewith. Gore is also correct in his assessment that *Derouen* does not stand for the proposition that every allegation of the defendant's sexual abuse of other victims is *pe se* admissible. This Court made clear in *Derouen*, that such evidence is no longer *per se* inadmissible. However, Gore is incorrect in his assertion that the trial court erred in admitting the aforementioned evidence in the present case.

In *Derouen*, the defendant was convicted of two counts of fondling his eight-year-old niece. 994 So. 2d at 750. Prior to trial, defense counsel moved to prevent the State from calling two witnesses who would testify regarding Derouen's sexual abuse of other child victims. *Id.* at 752. The trial court ruled that it had no choice but to exclude the testimony based on the authority of *Mitchell v. State*, 539 So. 2d 1366 (Miss. 1989) and *Lambert v. State*, 724 So. 2d 392 (Miss. 1998). *Id.* This honorable Court ultimately overruled *Mitchell* and *Lambert*, holding that evidence of a defendant's sexual abuse of other child victims "if properly admitted under Rule 404(b), filtered through Rule 403, and accompanied by an appropriately drafted limiting or cautionary instruction to the jury, should not be considered *per se* error." *Id.* at 756 (¶20). In the present case, the State argued and the trial court accepted that evidence of Gore forcing his children to participate in nudist

activities and evidence of his sexual abuse of Katie was admissible to show motive, intent, preparation, plan, and lack of mistake or accident. T. 190. The trial court also found that the evidence was more probative than prejudicial. T. 190. Finally, the trial court gave the following limiting instruction.

The Court instructs the jury that acts testified to by Daniel Gore and Mary Katlin Jenkins are acts relating to charges for which the defendant is not presently on trial and are to be considered only for the limited purpose of showing proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.

C.P. 37. Because the evidence in question was properly admitted under 404(b) and filtered through 403, and the trial court gave a proper limiting instruction, in accordance with *Derouen*, the trial court did not err in admitting the evidence in question.

Gore claims, however, that the evidence of Katie's sexual abuse was too remote in time, and that the evidence of nudist activities did not involve a claim of sexual misconduct. As to the first contention, the State would note that the *Derouen* opinion cited approvingly to at least one case from another jurisdictions in which the defendant's sexual abuse of another child victim was admitted even though the abuse occurred more than twenty years prior to the crime for which the defendant was being tried. *Id.* at 755 (¶17) (citing *State v. Driggers*, 554 So. 2d 720, 726 (La. Ct. App. 1989). As to the second contention, the *Derouen* opinion also cited to a case in which a prurient statement the defendant made to an eight-year-old girl who was not the victim of the offense for which he was tried was admitted to prove motive. *Id.* (citing *State v. Miller*, 718 So. 2d 960 (La. 1998). Accordingly, so long as the requirements stated in *Dereouen* are met, evidence of a defendant's prior

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Gore's contention that the evidence of the nudist activities did not involve sexual abuse is not entirely accurate. Katie and Daniel's testimony suggests that Gore was conditioning Katie for sexual contact.

sexual misconduct with other child victims may be admissible even where the prior incidents were remote or involved sexual misconduct other than physical sexual misconduct.

For the foregoing reasons, the trial court properly admitted evidence of Gore's abuse of Katie and evidence Daniel and Katie's forced participation in nudist activities under M.R.E. 404(b).

# II. LINDA STANLEY'S PROFFERED TESTIMONY WAS PROPERLY EXCLUDED UNDER M.R.E. 608(B).

As previously stated, Katie testified that once when she was twelve years old, she, Gore and his girlfriend napped nude in Gore's bed, and Gore molested her after the girlfriend fell asleep. T. 218, 222. Subsequently, defense counsel indicated that the defense would call Linda Stanley who was prepared to testify that she was Gore's girlfriend when Katie was twelve years old and that Katie never got in the bed with them naked. T. 234-36. The State objected, citing M.R.E. 608(b) and the general rule that a witness may not be impeached on a collateral matter. T. 235. During a hearing outside the presence of the jury, Stanley testified that she dated Gore for fifteen years. T. 239. She testified that she was usually present when Katie came for visitation. T. 239. Stanley further testified that Katie often slept in the bed with Gore and Stanley, but that they were never naked when they slept together. T. 240, 247. Stanley also testified that she had never seen Gore improperly touch Katie. T. 241. After the proffer, the trial court ruled that Stanley's testimony that Katie never slept with she and Gore naked was inadmissible under M.R.E. 608(b).

On appeal, Gore claims that M.R.E. 608(b) was misapplied because Stanley's excluded testimony did not pertain to Katie's character for truthfulness. Appellant's Brief at 11. Instead, Gore claims, the testimony pertained to whether the events to which Katie testified occurred or did not occur. Although it does appear that M.R.E. 608(b) may not have been the correct basis for excluding Stanley's testimony, a trial court's decision should be affirmed "when it reaches the right result but

for the wrong reason." McClurg v. State, 870 So.2d 681, 682 (¶6) (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). The trial court's exclusion of Stanley's testimony must be upheld because it is well-settled that a witness may not be impeached on a collateral issue. Lee v. State, 944 So.2d 35, 42-43 (¶24-29) (Miss. 2006); Peyton v. State, 858 So.2d 156, 160 (921) (Miss. Ct. App. 2003); Howard v. State, 755 So. 2d 1188, 1190-91 (¶¶11-15) (Miss. Ct. App. 1999); Ruffin v. State, 736 So.2d 407, 409 (¶8) (Miss. Ct. App. 1999); Bingham v. State, 723 So. 2d 1189, 1191 (¶9) (Miss. Ct. App. 1998); Johnson v. State, 655 So.2d 37, 41 (Miss. 1995). A matter is collateral when it is not directly relevant to the central issue of the case. Lee, 944 So. 2d at 43 (\$\gamma 28). The central issue of any criminal case is whether the defendant is guilty of the crime charged. In the present case, Katie's testimony was offered under 404(b), and the jury was instructed that the testimony was not to be considered as proof of the crime charged. As such, Katie's testimony involved a collateral matter, and Gore was not entitled to impeach the State's witness on the collateral matter. It must also be noted that Stanley's excluded testimony would not have impeached Katie's testimony that she was molested by Gore. Instead, Stanley's excluded testimony could only serve to impeach Katie's statement that the trio was nude when she was molested by Gore. Whether Katie slept nude with Gore has absolutely no bearing on whether or not Gore fondled M.G. Accordingly, the trial court properly excluded Stanley's testimony.

# III. GORE'S FOURTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO BE FREE FROM UNREASONABLE SEARCH AND SEIZURE WAS NOT IMPLICATED WHEN HE VOLUNTARILY LED OFFICERS TO EVIDENCE OF THE CRIME.

Deputy Head testified that after responding to the call from Lindsey's residence, he and Investigator Tucker proceeded to Gore's residence. Before speaking with Gore, Officer Head advised Gore of his *Miranda* rights. T. 116. Gore and the officers were on the front porch where Gore told his side of the story, which was that he and M.G. were laying down for a nap, and when

he awoke, M.G. was playing with a vibrator. T. 117. Gore also explained that M.G. was naked because she has soiled her clothes. T. 117. The following exchange then occurred at trial.

- Q. Did you gather any information from the defendant as to any physical evidence that may be present at this location?
- A. Yes, sir, the vibrator.
- Q. Were you able to obtain or secure this piece of evidence in question?
- A. Yes, sir.

MR. GORE: I object unless he had a search warrant, if the court please.

THE COURT: Overruled.

- Q. (Mr. Miller, Continuing) How was it that you knew where to find this vibrator?
- A. Mr. Gore told us he kept it under the bed in his box and he tried to get it. And I think I asked him to let me get it if he didn't mind.
- Q. So he showed you what it was?
- A. Yes, sir.

T. 119. When the State offered the vibrator into evidence, defense counsel raised another objection, arguing that the item should be excluded because there was no consent to search nor was Gore committing a felony in their presence. T. 132. The jury was excused, and the State countered that Gore had been read his rights, voluntarily spoke with the officers, and voluntarily showed the officers where the vibrator was located. T. 133. The trial court then questioned the officer regarding how he came to be in possession of the item in question. T. 135. Deputy Head again stated that after Gore was *Mirandized*, Gore brought up the matter of the vibrator and offered to retrieve it. T. 136. At that point, Deputy Head asked Gore to just show them where it was because he was concerned that there may be a gun in the house. T. 136. Gore then lead the officers to the location of the

vibrator, and Investigator Tucker retrieved it. T. 136, 140.

Gore claims on appeal that he merely told the officers that the vibrator was under the bed, and an officer then reached under the bed and retrieved the box containing the vibrator in question. Relying on *Bumper v. North Carolina*, 391 U.S. 218 (1973), Gore claims that a warrantless search and seizure occurred because he did no more than acquiesce to a claim of lawful authority. Gore's reliance on *Bumper* is misplaced, because in that case, the Court found that consent to search was involuntary because the defendant's grandmother "consented" only after authorities stated that they had a search warrant. *Bumper* at 546-49. No such claim was made in the present case, and Gore was not merely acquiescing to show of authority. Rather, after waiving his rights, Gore voluntarily spoke with the officers, and offered to retrieve the vibrator that he claimed M.G. found and used on herself. There was no full-blown search conducted by the officers, and to the extent the situation could be characterized as a search, it was consensual. Accordingly, the trial court correctly denied Gore's motion to suppress.

#### IV. THE JURY'S VERDICT IS SUPPORTED BY THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

Reviewing courts will not reverse based on a claim that the verdict is against the weight of the evidence unless allowing the verdict to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice. *Bush v. State*, 895 So.2d 836, 844 (¶18) (Miss. 2005). When considering such a claim, the evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the verdict. *Id.* Additionally, matters regarding the weight and credibility of the evidence are resolved by juries, not reviewing courts. *McClain v. State*, 625 So.2d 774, 778 (Miss. 1993).

In the present case, the jury was confronted with the fact that when Lindsey retrieved her twenty-one month old daughter from Gore's house, the toddler's rectum had been stretched to the size of a nickel. T. 94. Lindsey testified that at no time prior to leaving M.G. with Gore had M.G.

suffered from such a condition. T. 97. The jury also heard that the first thing Gore said to Lindsey when she came to pick M.G. up was that the toddler found his vibrator and that she had used it on herself. T. 93. Before leaving Gore's house, the baby picked up a container of lubricant and said to her mother, "Papa, owee's butt," as she patted her behind. T. 93. When Lindsey returned to Gore's home and demanded to know what happened to M.G., Gore told Lindsey that maybe M.G. "did it to herself or maybe she's got to poop," although Lindsey had not even referenced the visible condition of M.G.'s anus. T. 95. Also, weeks before the incident in question, Gore was found drunk with his pants pulled down to his ankles as he lay in bed behind M.G. spooning her. 200. Finally, the emergency room doctor who examined M.G. after she was taken from Gore's home opined that her injuries were consistent with sexual abuse. T. 149. Gore, on the other hand, told Lindsey and authorities that M.G. used the vibrator on her "private parts," but testified at trial that he never said that M.G. rubbed the vibrator on her "private parts." T. 93, 139, 160, 260, 265. Gore also gave conflicting accounts during his three interviews with Investigator Tucker. T. 160. Incredibly, Gore also told Tucker that as a former law enforcement officer he had been involved in several cases where a twenty-one-month-old child used a vibrator on herself. T. 171. At trial, Gore simply denied the allegations and explained to the jury that M.G. had been constipated and he simply tried to assist her in having a bowel movement. T. 260. He also made it a point to note that when Lindsey picked M.G. up that night, Lindsey's friend Matt "grabbed the baby by the bottom" and "was actually holding the baby by the bottom." T. 262.

When viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict, it is clear that the verdict is not against the weight of the evidence, nor does the verdict represent an unconscionable injustice.

## **CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, the State asks this honorable Court to affirm Gore's conviction and sentence.